

A Service of



Leibniz-Informationszentrum Wirtschaft Leibniz Information Centre for Economics

Scheide, Joachim

Working Paper — Digitized Version Central banks: No reason to ignore money

Kieler Diskussionsbeiträge, No. 316

Provided in Cooperation with: Kiel Institute for the World Economy – Leibniz Center for Research on Global Economic Challenges

Suggested Citation: Scheide, Joachim (1998) : Central banks: No reason to ignore money, Kieler Diskussionsbeiträge, No. 316, ISBN 3894561645, Institut für Weltwirtschaft (IfW), Kiel

This Version is available at: https://hdl.handle.net/10419/1006

Standard-Nutzungsbedingungen:

Die Dokumente auf EconStor dürfen zu eigenen wissenschaftlichen Zwecken und zum Privatgebrauch gespeichert und kopiert werden.

Sie dürfen die Dokumente nicht für öffentliche oder kommerzielle Zwecke vervielfältigen, öffentlich ausstellen, öffentlich zugänglich machen, vertreiben oder anderweitig nutzen.

Sofern die Verfasser die Dokumente unter Open-Content-Lizenzen (insbesondere CC-Lizenzen) zur Verfügung gestellt haben sollten, gelten abweichend von diesen Nutzungsbedingungen die in der dort genannten Lizenz gewährten Nutzungsrechte.

Terms of use:

Documents in EconStor may be saved and copied for your personal and scholarly purposes.

You are not to copy documents for public or commercial purposes, to exhibit the documents publicly, to make them publicly available on the internet, or to distribute or otherwise use the documents in public.

If the documents have been made available under an Open Content Licence (especially Creative Commons Licences), you may exercise further usage rights as specified in the indicated licence.



WWW.ECONSTOR.EU

KIELER DISKUSSIONSBEITRÄGE

KIEL DISCUSSION PAPERS

316

Central Banks: No Reason to Ignore Money

by Joachim Scheide

CONTENTS

- The need for a stable monetary policy arises from several facts about business cycles. For example, practically all recessions in industrial countries were preceded by restrictive measures of central banks. The main cause for the instability, however, was the expansionary policy that led to a boom and too high inflation. There is no question that high inflation in the long run is caused by high money growth; the empirical evidence in favor of the quantity theory of money is overwhelming.
- Inflation reduces economic growth considerably if it exceeds a certain level. At rates below 10 percent, the negative
 effects appear to be small. But recent studies show that there is a tremendous welfare gain even if inflation is reduced
 from a low rate of two percent to zero. This follows from the existence of distorting taxes and from a high demand for
 non-interest bearing cash at low rates of interest. The conclusion is that zero inflation can be achieved and that it
 produces a sizable free lunch for a society.
- While there is a consensus that monetary policy should follow a rule because discretionary policies have a bias towards higher inflation, it is not clear what the best strategy should be. It is often stated that monetary targeting cannot be used in the case of an unstable money demand function. This is not necessarily true because this instability can often be taken account of. Actually, rules exist according to which money growth adjusts to changes in the trend rate of the velocity of money. An instability of the money demand function does not invalidate the policy of monetary targeting or the main predictions of the quantity theory of money.
- The instability of money demand has led many central banks to pursue inflation targeting instead. But this policy, too, is fundamentally affected if the demand for money is not stable: The strategy requires a forecast for inflation which critically hinges on the conditions on the money market. In the case of an instability, it is difficult or even impossible to predict inflation accurately. This means that inflation targeting may not be better than monetary targeting.
- According to the Taylor rule, which is often propagated, the central bank reacts to the output gap as well as to the difference between actual inflation and the inflation target. If the central bank wants to set the short-term interest rate accordingly, an estimate for the real equilibrium interest rate is needed. Given the large variations in the trend of real short-term interest rates in the past, it is quite possible that a central bank uses a "wrong" estimate when following the rule. A small underestimation may already produce considerably higher inflation. Such an error is equivalent to the error concerning the estimate of trend velocity in the strategy of monetary targeting, so both strategies may lead to deviations from the target inflation rate. In other words: The Taylor rule is not necessarily superior.
- The future European Central Bank will choose between monetary targeting and inflation targeting. The start of the European Monetary Union may lead to an instability of the demand for money because of the regime shift. Therefore, the strategy of monetary targeting may lose some of its appeal. However, it does not follow that it is better to pursue a policy of inflation targeting. Any strategy will have difficulties when the fundamental link between money, prices, income and interest rates is disturbed.
- The rules for monetary policy have desirable features: inflation is to be kept under control, and fluctuations of output are to be reduced. But obviously, there is no single rule which is always and everywhere better than the alternatives. To conclude: It is not justified to disregard monetary targeting a tendency which seems to prevail among central bankers and economists alike. After all, the quantity theory of money holds well enough to stress the importance of monetary aggregates as an anchor for the price level.

Contents

I.	Monetary Policy and the Business Cycle	3
II.	The Benefits of Price Level Stability	4
	1. Inflation Reduces Economic Growth	4
	2. Zero Inflation — A Sizable Free Lunch	4
	3. Arguments in Favor of Rules for Monetary Policy	5
III.	Is Monetary Targeting Obsolete?	6
	1. The Stability of Money Demand — A Necessary Condition?	6
	2. An Alternative Rule for Money	7
	3. Is It Better to Target Interest Rates?	8
IV.	Is Inflation Targeting Superior?	8
v.	The Taylor Rule: A Good Compromise?	9
	1. The Reasoning Behind the Rule	9
	2. What Can Go Wrong with the Rule?	10
	3. The Taylor Rule and Actual Monetary Policy	11
VI.	Strategies for the European Central Bank	12
VII	. Conclusions: Money Still Matters	14
Ref	erences	17

Remark: I want to thank Christian Pierdzioch for helpful comments.

Die Deutsche Bibliothek – CIP-Einheitsaufnahme

Scheide, Joachim: Central banks : no reason to ignore money / by Joachim Scheide. Institut für Weltwirtschaft Kiel. – Kiel : Inst. für Weltwirtschaft, 1998

(Kiel discussion papers ; 316) ISBN 3-89456-164-5

© Institut für Weltwirtschaft an der Universität Kiel 1998.

All rights reserved. No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means (electronic, mechanical, photocopying, recording or otherwise) without the prior permission in writing of the Publisher.

Printed in Germany

ISSN 0455-0420

I. Monetary Policy and the Business Cycle

There is a widespread consensus that monetary policy matters for economic activity, at least to some degree, as opposed to the postulate of the real business cycle theory. For example: Prior to practically all recessions in OECD countries over the past three decades, short-term interest rates were raised considerably, money growth slowed down markedly, or - to take another indicator of monetary policy - the yield spread shrank or even became negative. In this sense, therefore, business cycles are to some extent avoidable if central banks had a better strategy at hand or did not resort to a discretionary policy. The possible benefit of a more stable development of output may be large if one considers the often huge fluctuations of unemployment over time. However, since most economic theories would consider monetary policy neutral in the longer run and thus not affecting the natural level of income and consumption, the "costs of business cycles" may not be too large altogether. In fact, Lucas (1987) comes up with a (actually maximum) welfare gain for each US consumer of just \$8.50. He derives the costs of business cycles from plausible assumptions on the utility function of consumers and their attitude towards risk. One would have to argue that more is involved in cyclical fluctuations than just the consumer's inability to smooth consumption (almost) perfectly if a case is to be made for a more stable monetary policy.

Another stylized fact of business cycles is the fluctuation of inflation. Again, practically all recessions in the OECD countries were preceded by an acceleration of inflation.¹ This applies also to all recessions in the United States, Great Britain and Germany — to mention three important examples — since World War II. Obviously, too high inflation led central banks to the above-mentioned reaction of tightening monetary policy. The typical sequence of events during business cycles is also compatible with Hayek's notion that "unemployment must follow inflation". Now, what then was the cause of inflation in the first place?

There is a consensus that monetary policy is to a large extent responsible for the acceleration of inflation.² One of the best possible ways to show the strength of the quantity theory of money is the link between money growth and inflation over a long time span. Using data for 110 countries for the 1960-1990 period, McCandless and Weber (1995) present a very persuasive correlation. The coefficient amounts to some 0.95, independent of the monetary aggregate chosen (M0, M1 and M2 were used) and the sample of countries (it applies to the group of industrial countries as well that were not among the high inflation economies). Lucas (1996) reproduced this figure in his Nobel Lecture praising David Hume for predicting such a relationship by purely theoretical reasoning — Hume had no data on money or the price level to support his theory.³

Although the quantity theory seems to be "always and everywhere controversial" (Laidler 1991), the long-run neutrality of money is certainly a tenet in all serious models on business cycles. In addition, the quantity theory cannot only be used for long-run predictions but is also applied to short-run price movements in, for example, P-star models (Krämer and Scheide 1994). Here, the difference between the equilibrium price level, determined by money, and the actual price level drives the process of inflation.

Another key issue related to a monetary strategy therefore is — besides the impact on the cycle — the importance of inflation. But how relevant is this? Does it matter much for economic welfare of a country whether inflation averages 2 percent, 10 percent or 100 percent? Is inflation not completely neutral with regard to welfare if it is correctly anticipated and fully reflected in, for example, nominal interest rates?

II. The Benefits of Price Level Stability

1. Inflation Reduces Economic Growth

While many would agree that inflation does not raise economic growth, there is some doubt among the economics profession whether reducing inflation is worthwhile. Many are critical when it comes to the negative effects on output during the transition when inflation is reduced. Huge "Okun gaps" are compared to small "Herberger triangles" suggesting that disinflation does not pay but is very costly. This argument of tremendous so-called sacrifice ratios needs some clarification.

An economic boom which brings about high output and low unemployment is by no means a desirable goal in itself. Economic theory does not state anything that would justify the target of a maximum of output or a maximum of employment. Typically, economic agents are fooled into working by surprise inflation. Therefore, any output level above the natural rate means a welfare loss.⁴ Had they not been surprised by inflation but known their true real wage, people simply would not work but rather enjoy leisure which is worth more to them given their preferences and given market outcomes. So, reducing output by a "restrictive" monetary policy⁵ to the natural level improves welfare — at least according to all theories that are based on neoclassical principles. Often, however, the restriction is stronger and produces another welfare loss, namely a level of output below the natural rate. While this may be typical for many episodes when inflation was reduced to a more desirable level, one has to keep in mind that the starting point of all these reactions of monetary policy has practically always been the preceding acceleration of inflation. One may therefore refer equally well to the costs of inflation when talking about the corrections that follow. In any case, the concept of sacrifice ratios is often exaggerated. What should be blamed for a recession is the policy that has led to the inflation in the first place.

Because of the close link between money and prices and the observation that inflation can practically reach any level, it seems a correct statement to say that a central bank --- or better: a society — can choose the inflation rate that it wants to have. Most central banks of industrial countries have for some time followed a policy of low inflation. In fact, a recurring statement at G-7 meetings and similar occasions is that stability of the price level is a precondition for economic growth. What really are the benefits? One of the most telling empirical investigation in this regard is Barro's (1995) article about the relationship between inflation and growth.⁶ The results show quite dramatic negative consequences for very high rates of inflation. This may be explained by the tremendous distortions in the economy that are connected with rapid price increases but also by the fact that high inflation may be a symptom of several other things that go wrong in an economy and thus are detrimental to growth. For inflation rates below 10 percent, however, the effects seem to be minor. No strong case can be made that rates of 5 percent are much worse than, say, 3 percent. Nevertheless, an economy which experiences inflation of 10 percent will grow by some 0.2 percent less a year than an economy with price level stability. This adds up to a sizable free lunch if, for example, the present value of the additional real income is calculated.7

2. Zero Inflation — A Sizable Free Lunch

While such calculations show "real" benefits, other estimates refer to welfare gains of low inflation not always captured in higher GDP levels. Usually, inflation leads to shoeleather costs, i.e. people have to go to the bank more often because of the higher opportunity cost of holding non-interest bearing cash.⁸ Milton Friedman's approach of balancing the marginal cost and marginal benefit of money implies that it is optimal to have a deflation rate equivalent to the rate of productivity growth in an economy. The welfare gain of a policy which would produce this outcome critically hinges on the type of money demand function, in particular the relationship between money and the interest rate. Postulating a log-log relationship, Lucas (1994) argues that there is a high interest elasticity of real balances at very low rates of interest. As people do not get saturated with real balances, the annual welfare gain of Friedman's rule is substantial, namely one percent of GDP compared to the situation of zero inflation. While the empirical basis for this may not be overwhelming - periods of very low interest rates are rare ---, other authors come to a rather similar magnitude of either deflation or zero inflation (Wolman 1997; Dotsey and Ireland 1996).

For several reasons, however, policymakers do not find deflation desirable. It may also be difficult to change the attitude of the population.⁹ But recent studies come up with a rather remarkable result: Substantial welfare gains can be expected even if inflation is reduced from a low level of two percent (currently prevailing in most industrial countries) to zero: Feldstein (1996) as well as Tödter and Ziebarth (1997) argue that such gains follow from the existence of distorting taxes. Capital gains are taxed in various ways. Even if the real rate of interest is the same under the two different levels of inflation, the net real interest rate is not. This is detrimental to saving and capital accumulation in the economy. Thus, people who save now in order to consume later experience a gain of welfare if — given the tax system — inflation is brought down to zero as in those examples. Feldstein's estimate for the United States amounts to about one percent, Tödter and Ziebarth's estimate for Germany to about 1.4 percent of GDP.¹⁰ It must be stressed that this is a permanent gain, it comes every year, whereas the costs postulated in the concept of the sacrifice ratio are only transitory. Therefore - even if one accepts the estimates of the sacrifice ratio in spite of all the inconsistencies — the benefits of zero inflation by far surpass those "costs of bringing inflation down".¹¹

To summarize: monetary policy intensifies or even causes business cycles and produces inflation. Thus, the welfare gain to be expected from a monetary strategy which leads to stable outcomes would be a sizable free lunch for a society, and a stable monetary policy can be seen as an insurance against the negative effects of economic fluctuations and inflation.

3. Arguments in Favor of Rules for Monetary Policy

Before I turn to the topic of a good strategy of monetary policy, one question certainly arises after the previous discussions: If higher money growth does not raise output in the long run and if inflation is costly, why is it that central banks allow inflation to arise or, to put it bluntly, produce inflation? The answer probably lies in the difference in the timing of effects. Since in the short run output gains seem to be beneficial (what they are not!), central banks may try to exploit the Phillips curve by surprise inflation. One major result of the rational expectations "revolution" is the description of the policy dilemma that a central bank faces: Although it promises zero or low inflation, it is tempted to raise money growth in order to reduce unemployment or to prevent it from rising.¹² In this typical game, the result is the Nash equilibrium with the suboptimal outcome of higher inflation. A discretionary policy, therefore, does not lead to satisfactory outcomes (even if central banks dislike inflation). This is the fundamental argument in favor of rules for monetary policy.¹³ Alan Blinder, however, stresses that when he was a member of the Federal Reserve Board, he was never tempted in the way described above. But what then are alternative explanations for the existence of suboptimal inflation rates? Looking at the correlation between money growth and inflation one can certainly say that only a small part — if at all! — of the inflation can be "explained" by negative supply shocks, aggressive wage policy or whatever.

If the target of low or even zero inflation is accepted, how can it be achieved? What is the best strategy for a central bank under possibly uncertain structural relationships? In the following sections, the pros and cons of three widely 6

discussed alternatives are analyzed: monetary targeting, inflation targeting and the Taylor rule. Given the widespread criticism of the policy of monetary targeting, it is analyzed whether the arguments against this strategy are valid and whether the alternatives can be expected to perform better under certain circumstances. In Section VI, the possible strategy of the future European Central Bank is discussed.

III. Is Monetary Targeting Obsolete?

Given the empirical regularities, monetary targeting is the straightforward application of the quantity theory. If the target inflation is π^* the rate that is to be achieved not on a quarterto-quarter basis but rather on average for the medium term — then the growth rate of money (m) has to follow

$$[1] \qquad \Delta m^* = \pi^* - \Delta \overline{v} + \Delta \overline{y} .$$

Here, the trend values (with a bar) of the change in output y and in velocity y have to be estimated. Various methods are used in the literature.¹⁴ The target for money growth can then simply be derived. This is the procedure that the Deutsche Bundesbank has followed since the middle of the 1970s. The rule for monetary policy looks trivial, but this is what the quantity theory is.¹⁵ The equation can be used to determine long-run and even short-run inflation - possibly modified as in, for example, the P-star model (Krämer und Scheide 1994) - or to make forecasts. The "charme" is that money growth and inflation practically change 1:1 in the long run, the direction of causation is clear, and any rate of inflation can be chosen as a target.¹⁶ This relationship works well if the trend growth of output can be estimated well enough --- usually this is not seen as a major problem — and if the trend of velocity is fairly stable.

1. The Stability of Money Demand — A Necessary Condition?

The latter "if" is a big one. Estimating the trend may be difficult if money demand becomes unstable. This instability is exactly the reason why so many central banks have given up monetary targeting.¹⁷ It is often claimed that the stability of the demand for money is a necessary condition; if it is not stable, monetary targeting does not make sense, and the central bank has to do something else.

Would this instability by itself imply that the fundamental relationships of the quantity theory do not apply anymore? The evidence presented by McCandless and Weber (1995) is overwhelming. Nevertheless, it would be a great surprise if the money demand functions for each of the 110 countries had been stable over the entire 30 years. There certainly were structural breaks en masse, but the basic message of the theory holds anyway. Usually, arguments such as the Lucas critique or Goodhart's Law are referred to in order to question the validity of certain propositions. But: While the Lucas critique refers to short-run phenomena such as the translation of a change of money into real and price effects and while according to Goodhart's Law the use of a policy instrument may distort its function as an indicator and thus lead to different outcomes than before, neither Lucas nor Goodhart question the validity of the long-run relationship as stated in the quantity theory of money!

The question whether and how much the instability of money matters can be put in the following way. Consider the typical function

[2] $m_t - p_t = c_0 + c_1 y_t + c_2 i_t + \varepsilon_t$,

where real money balances (m-p) depend on real income y and the nominal interest rate i. Assume that all variables (including real money) are integrated of order one. Unit root econometrics would imply that the residual ε_i is stationary only if the other series are cointegrated. If they are not, the residual is only stationary in first differences and the function cannot be used. But there are many reasons to expect exactly this characteristic (McCallum 1993). The residual captures, inter alia, changes in transaction technology or other innovations. These occur normally at irregular intervals, and they are typically permanent in character. As they are not reversed, they lead to the non-stationarity of ε_t .

Two conclusions follow: First, the money demand function may be amended by using dummies for the periods in which these shocks took place. Second, and more importantly, the main implications of the functions will remain intact if the variance of the residual is small relative to the change in money. In that case, the typical policy conclusions will hold, namely that in the long run, a one percent change in the rate of monetary expansion leads to a change in the inflation rate of approximately one percentage point. In other words, the implications of monetary neutrality continue to hold - or for that matter: the predictions "monetarists" would normally make — although money may not be super-neutral. In fact: the observations for the 110 countries concerning money growth and inflation are not on the 45°-line but very close; this means that there is strong support for the quantity theory in spite of the fact that money demand functions are not always and everywhere stable.

2. An Alternative Rule for Money

While the quantity theory holds in the long run, central banks must have something at hand for the short run. Their day-to-day actions, even if they are not discretionary but follow something like a rule, must take account of uncertainties. The instability of velocity which obviously occurred at the beginning of the 1980s in the United States led a few authors to develop a rule for the money stock, in this case of the monetary base. Meltzer (1987) and McCallum (1987) proposed a rule of the following type¹⁸ in order to achieve the desired inflation rate π^* :

$$[3] \qquad \Delta m_t^* = \pi^* - \frac{1}{16} (v_{t-1} - v_{t-17}) + \frac{1}{16} (y_{t-1} - y_{t-17}).$$

As the trend of velocity is not known, one needs an estimate. The average of four years ---admittedly taken ad hoc¹⁹ — is used as an approximation. Applying the same type of estimate for trend output, one can calculate what excess money is: if $\Delta m > \Delta m^*$, then $\pi > \pi^*$ in the long run. The performance of this rule was estimated by McCallum (1987) for the United States. It could have produced zero inflation on average and was thus by far superior to the policy actually pursued.²⁰ Equation [3] can also be used to explain the recent development of inflation in the United States. Assuming a target for inflation of 2 percent, one can calculate the rate of money growth which would deliver this rate. In Figure 1, actual money growth during recent years has been lower than the rate compatible with 2 percent (or even higher) inflation. Thus, it would have been correct not to forecast an acceleration of inflation - as many did on the basis of the unemployment rate or some idea of the NAIRU — but rather a decline which actually occurred until recently.21

All this means that even in case of an instability of money demand, targeting money growth still makes sense.²² It would be wrong to disregard monetary aggregates altogether either for evaluating policy or for making forecasts.



Source: OECD (1998), own calculations.

Figure 1 – Monetary Policy and the McCallum Rule in the United States

3. Is It Better to Target Interest Rates?

The type of shocks hitting the economy matters for the choice of the policy instrument. Poole (1970) shows in a model with fixed prices that if money demand shocks are relatively frequent — as recently in industrial countries —, the interest rate is superior to the money stock. However, in a more general model this would lead to an indeterminacy of inflation. If interest rates are used, there is no anchor for the final target of the price level.

In general, the problem is that no simple relationship exists between the money market rate and inflation that could be exploited for policy recommendations. It may usually be correct to say that interest rates should be raised if inflation is too high relative to some target.²³ Such considerations are indeed behind the day-to-day actions of central banks. But if interest rates are to be raised: by how much and for how long? In the strategy of monetary targeting, the policy advice is straightforward: If inflation is to be lowered by one percentage point, reduce money growth by just that amount. Nothing quite as simple can be said with respect to the interest rate. In fact, in the long run there is a positive relationship between the interest rate and inflation, not a negative one which is usually assumed when typical policy recommendations are made.

This sign switch in the correlation between the rate of interest and the rate of inflation makes it impossible to evaluate an interest rate policy which would deliver the desired inflation rate. Or, as Lucas (1996: 666) put it: "Central banks and even some monetary economists talk knowledgeably of using high interest rates to control inflation, but I know of no evidence from even one economy linking these variables in a useful way ...". Certainly, there is no evidence of the quality as for the money-inflation correlation as shown by McCandless and Weber (1995).

IV. Is Inflation Targeting Superior?

Because of the instabilities of money demand, many central banks have given up using money as an intermediate target and switched to the strategy of directly targeting the inflation rate (e.g. Great Britain, Canada, New Zealand, Sweden). These countries were also successful in bringing inflation down. However, this "evidence" is not necessarily a reason to believe that this strategy is superior because inflation has come down in practically all industrial countries. One could equally say that the strategy of monetary targeting has continued to be successful: The Deutsche Bundesbank pursued this policy - money demand has been sufficiently stable in Germany - and reduced inflation; other countries in Europe, the so-called DM-bloc, followed this by means of an exchange rate target and thus also achieved low inflation.

The key point, however, is twofold: First, if money demand is not stable, is it necessary to give up monetary targeting? The negative answer to this question was explained in the previous section. Second, if money demand is unstable, is the strategy of inflation targeting superior? This question can be analyzed by using a simple macroeconomic model²⁴ (Box). There is nothing peculiar about this model, it is fairly standard, so the conclusions are not confined to a particular ideology. The results are interesting as far as the price equation is concerned. The strategy of inflation targeting is based on an inflation forecast. This, however, depends among other things also on the money demand function: All coefficients show up in the price equation. If money demand is unstable and/or the coefficients are not known, it is impossible - or, at least, very difficult — to make an inflation forecast.

Box — A Simple Macroeconomic Model for a Closed Economy

[A]	$y_t = b_0 + b_1(i_t - E_t p_{t+1} + p_t) + v_t$	IS curve
[B]	$m_t - p_t = c_0 + c_1 y_t + c_2 i_t + w_t$	Money demand
[C]	$y_t - \overline{y}_t = \alpha (p_t - E_{t-1}p_t) + u_t$	Aggregate supply

Equation [A] is an IS curve with output y depending on the real interest rate, which is the difference between the current nominal rate i and expected inflation (E is the expectation operator). The LM curve [B] has the usual form with real balances depending on output and the interest rate i. Equation [C] is a type of the Lucas supply function: output deviates from its natural level y in the case of a shock or if the current price level p deviates from its expected value.

Solving for two of the endogenous variables y and p gives the following expressions (the third one is r):

$$[D] y_t = -\alpha E_{t-1}p_t + u_t - \frac{\alpha (b_1(-c_0 + m_t + w_t) - c_2(-b_0 + b_1E_tp_{t+1} - v_t) - (-b_1c_1 - c_2)(\alpha E_{t-1}p_t - u_t - \overline{y}_t))}{-b_1 + \alpha (-b_1c_1 - c_2 + b_1c_2)} + \overline{y}_t$$

[E]
$$p_{t} = -\frac{b_{1}(-c_{0} + m_{t} - w_{t}) - c_{2}(-b_{0} + b_{1}E_{t}p_{t+1} - v_{t}) - (-b_{1}c_{1} - c_{2})(\alpha E_{t-1}p_{t} - u_{t} - \overline{y}_{t})}{-b_{1} + \alpha (-b_{1}c_{1} - c_{2}) + b_{1}c_{2}}.$$

As expected, the interdependence of the various equations shows up in a rather complicated way, or in other words: everything depends on everything.

In other words: If the demand for money is unstable, every strategy of monetary policy has problems, and it is by no means the case that as it is often stated — monetary targeting must be given up and inflation targeting is the solution to the problem.²⁵

In practice, central bankers try to reduce the difficulties by "looking at everything", i.e. by using other variables that may have an impact on inflation. However, the problem arises that policy actions can often not be distinguished from a discretionary policy. According to King (1996), there is also a good deal of judgment involved when it comes to the inflation forecast which is derived from, as in the case of Great Britain, the econometric model of the Bank of England.

To be sure, the differences between monetary targeting and inflation targeting are not fundamental. In fact, the Deutsche Bundesbank also has a target for the inflation rate, and proponents of the alternative strategy have over and over again stated that with a stable money demand function, the two strategies amount to the same. But it is also true that both strategies face difficulties in the case of an instability of the money demand function, and it is not correct to say that inflation targeting becomes automatically superior.

V. The Taylor Rule: A Good Compromise?

1. The Reasoning Behind the Rule

Also because of the problems of money demand instability, John Taylor proposed a rule that uses the short-term interest rate as an instrument (Taylor 1996). The basic idea is that monetary policy can reduce output fluctuations in the short run, at least to some extent; but in the long run, it can only affect inflation and should focus on the target inflation rate (Taylor 1997). The central bank cannot, however, achieve a complete stabilization of both output and inflation. There is obviously a trade-off. For example, if a negative supply shock hits the economy, an expansionary monetary policy can reduce the output gap but only at the price of more inflation; if, in contrast, the central bank wanted to prevent inflation from rising, output would be reduced further. In other words: More output stabilization comes at the cost of more inflation instability and vice versa, with the opportunity costs increasing. Thus, there is a curve of "production possibilities" with the usual convex shape (Taylor 1996). The curve may shift outward, i.e. in the more favorable direction if there is more knowledge about the short-run dynamics in the economy, more credibility of the central bank and so on.

One version of the Taylor rule is

[4]
$$i = \pi + r + \alpha (\pi - \pi^*) - \beta (\overline{y} - y)$$
with $\alpha > 0, \beta > 0$.

The money market rate *i* is set depending on the level of actual inflation π and the difference between actual and target inflation π^* . Furthermore, the interest rate should decrease with the output gap $(\overline{y} - y)$. The rule implies that the interest rate behaves in a similar fashion as "suggested" by the money demand function. For example, if output increases, *i* must increase also if *m* remains constant; if inflation goes up, *i* also has to rise because real balances are lower. In other words: The interest rate in the Taylor rule is used as an instrument, and the central bank "behaves" as if the money stock is fixed.

The rule appears to be quite attractive since manipulating the interest rate is close to the actual policy behavior of central banks. Also, the rule implies the neutrality of monetary policy: if inflation rises above the target rate, restrictive measures are taken. And in the long run, real variables are not affected, the output gap is zero on average.

2. What Can Go Wrong with the Rule?

An important element is the real equilibrium interest rate r. In the steady state, the Fisher condition holds:

 $[5] \qquad i=\overline{r}+\pi \ .$

Estimating the real short-term rate that reflects the equilibrium is quite a difficult matter. In the absence of a complex macroeconometric model one would have to use some average of past values. But even this poses severe problems.

Figure 2 - Real Money Market Rate in Various Countries





While it is obvious that one has to choose a time span longer than the duration of a business cycle, the "correct" length is by no means clear. The real rate has quite different values for the three major countries, the United States, Great Britain and Germany (Figure 2), i.e. the trend lines²⁶ show remarkable variations over time. Therefore, it is easily possible that the central bank in pursuing the Taylor rule uses a "wrong" estimate of the real rate. What would be the consequences for inflation?

As an example, let us assume that the estimated rate r is lower than the "true" equilibrium rate \overline{r} , i.e. $r < \overline{r}$. Assume further that there is no error concerning the output gap, so that term is deleted for simplicity.²⁷ The inflation rate can be derived by combining equations [4] and [5]:

$$\pi + \overline{r} = \pi + \alpha (\pi - \pi^*) + r .$$

Solving for π results in

$$[6] \qquad \pi = \pi^* + (\overline{r} - r)/\alpha \; .$$

This means that permanent inflation would be higher than the target rate, with the size of the error depending on the reaction coefficient α . Commonly, the concrete proposals for the rule [4] imply a value for α (as well as for β) of 0.5 (Taylor 1996). Thus, an error of one percentage point concerning the real interest rate - which is quite possible given the range of values in Figure 2 — would imply that long-run inflation would be higher than the target rate by 2 percentage points, i.e. there is a "multiplier effect". If compared to the strategy of monetary targeting, it is the same as if the growth rate of money would be 2 percentage points higher than justified by the "true" relations; for example, if the growth rate of velocity is 2 percentage points higher than estimated by the central bank, the error concerning long-run inflation would be the same.

At this point it is fair to say that the Taylor rule implies a correction mechanism. The money market rate would be raised in the case of this error because actual inflation would tend to be higher than the target π^* . But this would only be so after a long time — due to the time lag

between monetary policy and inflation. Anyway, this example demonstrates that

- inflation will not be stabilized as desired if a wrong estimate of the true real interest rate is used. Output fluctuations would increase because the initial policy of too much expansion (a too low interest rate) must be followed by a restrictive policy;
- 2. the target inflation will not be achieved as desired, or only after a possibly long process during which the central bank corrects earlier "mistakes".

This, however, should not be interpreted in such a way as to reject the rule altogether. It certainly has desirable features, and it is to be preferred over a discretionary policy also because it is explicitly focused on achieving a particular inflation rate. But, as the example shows, substantial errors are possible here as well. This means that this rule which was intended to replace monetary targeting is not necessarily superior. In both cases, inflation may turn out to be higher than targeted. But both strategies also have correction mechanisms. The central bank following monetary targeting would also adjust its course if inflation is higher than envisaged, money growth would be corrected here just as the interest rate would be corrected with a policy of the Taylor rule.

3. The Taylor Rule and Actual Monetary Policy

Empirical evidence suggests that most central banks behave in a similar manner as the rule predicts. In a sense, then, it can also be interpreted as a reaction function: Central banks obviously lower interest rates in recessions and raise them when inflation increases.²⁸ It is not surprising, therefore, that the ups and downs of interest rates in reality are close to the rule often suggested:

[7]
$$i = \pi + r + 0.5 (\pi - \pi^*) - 0.5 (\overline{y} - y)$$
.

Again, the policy of three important central banks is considered. For the United States,

Great Britain and Germany the inputs are estimated as follows: The output gap is determined using a Hodrick-Prescott filter for detrending real GDP. The equilibrium real interest rate is defined here as the average over the period 1984–1996.²⁹ The inflation target π^* has not been constant over time in all the countries; therefore, it only makes sense to look at the more recent years.³⁰ The target levels are 2 percent for the United States and for Germany, and 2.5 percent for Great Britain. Given these assumptions, interest rates were close to their target value in the United States and in Germany; in the latter case, the difference has increased somewhat recently (Figure 3), suggesting an expansionary policy. The reference for Great Britain shows that the Bank of England kept the interest rates "too low for too long", a fact which would explain the inflationary pressure in this economy and the central bank's reaction







of raising rates over the past year. By the way, it should be mentioned that also the figures on money growth suggest a very stimulative policy; this indicator, too, provided reliable information on the course of inflation.

VI. Strategies for the European Central Bank

According to the decision of the European Monetary Institute, two options are available for the European Central Bank (ECB) as far as the strategy for monetary policy is concerned: monetary targeting and inflation targeting.

If the stability of money demand is taken as a criterion, there seems to be evidence in favor of

monetary targeting. Many empirical studies support the view that the demand for money is fairly stable for a large currency area in Europe.³¹ Accordingly, the velocity of money³² shows a trend which is almost deterministic (Figure 4). This suggests that the trend growth of velocity, which is a central variable for the targeted money





Source: OECD (1998), own calculations.

growth in this strategy, could have been estimated without major problems.

While this would lend support to monetary targeting as the strategy for the ECB, the start of EMU itself may lead to an instability of money demand. The regime shift can pose the typical problem of the Lucas critique: There will be only one currency in Europe, and this may well change the demand for money by firms and households (Rother 1996). Also, the possible role as a reserve currency may change the demand for the euro. It is true, therefore, that monetary targeting might lose some of its appeal or justification. Nevertheless, for reasons discussed in Section III, this would not automatically make inflation targeting the superior strategy. Any strategy will have difficulties when the fundamental link between money, prices, income and the interest rate — as implied in the typical demand for money function — is not stable. Thus, the start of the monetary union will pose a big problem for the ECB no matter what.

It therefore seems advisable for the European Central Bank not to disregard money altogether. The ECB may gain some reputation by following a strategy close to that of the Deutsche Bundesbank. It may be difficult to introduce a new strategy on the European level. Also, one has to keep in mind that the strategy of inflation targeting was introduced in most countries under special circumstances: High inflation prevailed, and the central banks were not independent or became independent only later. The credibility also did not come automatically; real long-term interest rates in those economies were higher than, for example, in Germany for an extended period of time.

Apart from these fundamental issues concerning the strategy, there are at least two practical problems for the starting period of EMU. The first has to do with the proper definitions of monetary aggregates. So far, the harmonization has not fully taken place. Long time series which would be necessary to evaluate the strategy of monetary targeting obviously do not exist. The second problem has to do with the strategy of inflation targeting. While the Bank of England, for example, uses a model to predict inflation and thus has an empirically tested basis for policy decisions, this condition is not yet given for the ECB. Major central banks --among them is also the Deutsche Bundesbank - did not publish forecasts of inflation, and it is unclear whether the ECB will have a model at hand which will generally be accepted as the basis for monetary policy. So even if inflation targeting were chosen as the ECB's strategy. one of the basics just would not exist. In addition to all possible instabilities of the fundamental relationships, these practical issues make the start of EMU even more difficult.

VII. Conclusions: Money Still Matters

The practice of monetary policy is certainly not a trivial task. There seems to be a consensus that rules are superior to discretionary policies. All the rules discussed in this paper try to achieve the same goals: to keep inflation low (maybe even at zero) and — either by an active policy or as a side-effect — to reduce fluctuations of output. In this sense, they all have desirable features. But at the same time, it appears that there is not a single strategy that is always and everywhere superior to all the others. The discussion of the pros and cons showed that it is not justified to disregard money, to give up monetary targeting altogether and switch to one of the alternatives — a tendency which seems to prevail among central banks and economists alike. Apparently, many relationships have become unstable also because of the changes on financial markets. In the long run, however, the quantity theory of money seems to hold well enough to stress the importance of monetary aggregates as an anchor for the price level.

Endnotes

- 1 Exceptions are Denmark in 1993/94 and New Zealand in 1994
- ² It is true, of course, that often but certainly not always real shocks hit the economy and thus produced a surge in the price level.
- ³ Hume postulated some non-neutrality of money in the short run as money is not distributed evenly in the "common-wealth".
- ⁴ The definition of the natural rate of output or of unemployment was introduced by Friedman (1968).
- ⁵ Output would sooner or later decline to its natural level even without a restrictive policy, i.e. when agents realize their mistake and react accordingly.
- ⁶ In a different study, Pindyck and Solimano (1993) show that inflation is the major factor of uncertainty affecting investment and thus economic growth.
- As an example: If an economy with zero inflation grows at 2.5 percent per year, real GDP in 30 years will be almost 7 percent higher than if inflation was 10 percent. For Germany, this would imply an additional income of DM 3,150 per person after 30 years. As free lunches go, this is a sizable amount worth having.
- Lucas (1994: 21 p.) also refers to the costs of having a financial industry. These arise because of a suboptimal rate of inflation. "In a monetary economy, it is in everyone's private interest to try to get someone else to hold non-interest bearing cash and reserves. But someone has to hold it all, so all of these efforts must simply cancel out. All of us spend several hours per year in this effort, and we employ thousands of talented and highly-trained people full-time in the financial industry to help us. These person-hours many billions of dollars worth are simply thrown away, wasted on a task that should not have to be performed at all."
- ⁹ For example: If the rate of deflation equals the rate of productivity growth, unions and employers may have to negotiate about a reduction of nominal wages if unemployment (overall or for particular groups) is to be reduced.
- ¹⁰ Other effects are investigated as well but are of minor importance quantitatively.
- Referring to welfare gains, Tobin (1977: 467) once stated that "it takes a heap of Harberger triangles to fill an Okun gap". Given their new estimates, Tödter and Ziebarth (1997: 47) correctly add that "... but it needs only one single Feldstein trapezoid to do it".
- ¹² One possible reason is related to political business cycles: Before elections, a central bank if not fully independent may want to (or have to) support the government in office by pursuing a stimulative policy.
- ¹³ The pioneering work is Kydland and Prescott (1977) and Barro and Gordon (1983).
- ¹⁴ Estimating of normal output growth is not trivial; various methods are used in the literature (production functions or simply trends, such as the Hodrick-Prescott filter). The trend of velocity may also be estimated either by purely statistical methods or by running money demand functions.
- ¹⁵ The strategy of the Deutsche Bundesbank also follows directly from Friedman's k-percent rule for money growth. Cf. Scheide (1989) for a discussion and an empirical test.
- ¹⁶ It is fair to add, however, that the transition from a high rate of inflation to a low target inflation may take time.
- ¹⁷ For Germany, however, several studies show that money demand is sufficiently stable.
- ¹⁸ In addition, McCallum added a term which implies a reaction of the monetary base to deviations of nominal GDP from its target level. For the purpose of demonstration, this term is deleted here.
- ¹⁹ The time span is long enough to average over purely cyclical influences. One could improve the trend estimate by using sophisticated detrending methods but this might run counter to the requirement of simple rules.
- ²⁰ This can be said because the policy would not have altered certainly not lowered the path of real output.
- 21 Whether the turnaround since the middle of 1996 in base money growth means more inflation in the future is an open question. It would require excess money growth for some time; it has recently crossed the "critical" line which is compatible with 2 percent inflation.
- ²² For the purpose of estimating the P-star model, Scheide and Solveen (1998) "solve" the problem of instability of the demand for M2 in the United States by introducing a dummy variable for the early 1990s.
- ²³ It may sound paradox to say that interest rates must be raised at one point in time to have low interest rates in the future.
- ²⁴ This is a simplified version of the model used by McCallum (1994). There, government expenditures are also included; furthermore, it is an open economy model, i.e. it contains, among other variables, also the exchange rate.
- ²⁵ See also von Hagen and Neumann (1996) for a discussion.
- ²⁶ The trend is approximated by using a Hodrick-Prescott filter.

- ²⁷ The output gap is not a crucial difference to other strategies. For example, with monetary targeting one needs an estimate of the natural rate of output \overline{y} , too.
- ²⁸ For an extensive analysis of reaction functions in general cf. Solveen (1998).
- ²⁹ The values are 3.0 percent for the United States, 3.8 percent for Germany and 4.8 percent for Great Britain. One may wonder why the average is so high for Great Britain. Probably the uncertainty concerning the exchange rate policy played a role. For Germany, the rate is also high compared to the United States; one reason may be the effect of German unification. This only demonstrates that it is very difficult to estimate the equilibrium real rate. It appears that there are quite substantial differences of real rates (both long-term and short-term) between countries for reasons not fully understood.
- ³⁰ For example, the target for the Fed in the United States was probably higher than 2 percent during the 1980s.

31 Cf. Browne et al. (1997) for a survey.

³² The aggregates used here are the OECD figures for the European Union (EU 15) for M1 and for "broad money".

References

- Barro, R.J. (1995). Inflation and Economic Growth. Bank of England Quarterly Bulletin. May: 166-175.
- Barro, R.J., and D. Gordon (1983). Rules, Discretion and Reputation in a Model of Monetary Policy. *Journal of Monetary Economics* 12 (1): 101–122.
- Browne, F.X., G. Fagan and J. Henry (1997). Money Demand in EU Countries: A Survey. European Monetary Institute Staff Paper No. 7. Frankfurt am Main.
- Dotsey, M., and P.N. Ireland (1996). The Welfare Cost of Inflation in General Equilibrium. Journal of Monetary Economics 37 (1): 29–47.
- Feldstein, M. (1996). The Costs and Benefits of Going From Low Inflation to Price Stability. NBER Working Paper 5469. Cambridge, Mass.
- Friedman, M. (1968). The Role of Monetary Policy. American Economic Review 58 (1): 1-17.
- Hagen, J. von, and M.J.M. Neumann (1996). A Framework for Monetary Policy under EMU. In Deutsche Bundesbank (ed.), *Monetary Policy Strategies in Europe*. München.
- King, M. (1996). Direct Inflation Targets. In Deutsche Bundesbank (ed.), Monetary Policy Strategies in Europe. München.
- Krämer, J.W., and J. Scheide (1994). Geldpolitik: Zurück zur Potentialorientierung. Kiel Discussion Paper 235. Institut für Weltwirtschaft, Kiel.
- Kydland, F., and E. Prescott (1977). Rules Rather Than Discretion. The Inconsistency of Optimal Plans. *Journal* of Political Economy 85: 473–493.
- Laidler, D. (1991). The Quantity Theory Is Always and Everywhere Controversial Why? The Economic Record 67: 289-306.
- Lucas, R.E., Jr. (1987). Models of Business Cycles. Oxford.
- (1994). On the Welfare Cost of Inflation. CEPR Publication No. 394. Stanford University.
- (1996). Nobel Lecture: Monetary Neutrality. Journal of Political Economy 104 (4): 661-682.
- McCallum, B.T. (1987). The Case for Rules in the Conduct of Monetary Policy. *Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv* 123 (3): 415–429.
- (1993). Unit Roots in Macroeconomic Time Series: Some Critical Issues. Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Quarterly Review 79 (2): 13-43.
- (1994). Specification of Policy Rules and Performance Measures in Multicountry Simulation Studies. Journal of International Money and Finance 13 (3): 259–275.
- McCandless, G.T, Jr., and W.E. Weber (1995). Some Monetary Facts. Federal Reserve Bank of Minneapolis Quarterly Review 19 (3): 2-11.
- Meltzer, A.H. (1987). Limits of Short-Run Stabilization Policy. Economic Inquiry 25: 1-14.
- OECD (1998). Main Economic Indicators. CD-ROM. Paris.
- Pindyck, R.S., and A. Solimano (1993). Economic Instability and Aggregate Investment. NBER Working Paper 4380. Cambridge, Mass.
- Poole, W. (1970). Optimal Choice of Monetary Policy Instruments in a Simple Stochastic Macro Setting. Quarterly Journal of Economics 29: 197–216.
- Rother, P.C. (1996). European Monetary Integration and the Demand for Money. University of Mannheim (mimeo).
- Scheide, J. (1989). A K-Percent Rule for Monetary Policy in West Germany. Weltwirtschaftliches Archiv 125 (2): 326-336.
- Scheide, J., and R. Solveen (1998). Should the European Central Bank Worry about Exchange Rates? *Konjunkturpolitik* (forthcoming).

- Solveen, R. (1998). Der Einfluß der Unabhängigkeit auf die Politik der Zentralbanken. Kieler Studien 288. Tübingen.
- Taylor, J.B. (1996). Monetary Policy Guidelines for Employment and Inflation Stability. Stanford University (mimeo).
- (1997). A Core of Practical Macroeconomics. American Economic Review 87 (2): 233-235.
- Tobin, J. (1977). How Dead Is Keynes? Economic Inquiry 15: 459-468.
- Tödter, K.-H., and G. Ziebarth (1997). Price Stability vs. Low Inflation in Germany: An Analysis of Costs and Benefits. NBER Working Paper 6170. Cambridge, Mass.
- Wolman, A.L. (1997). Zero Inflation and the Friedman Rule: A Welfare Comparison. Federal Reserve Bank of Richmond Quarterly Review 83 (4): 1-21.